IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA  
No. DA 25-0031

---

CIARA LYNN REHBEIN,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

JESSICA MICHELLE PADDOCK,

Respondent and Appellee.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court,  
Silver Bow County  
The Honorable Ray J. Dayton, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES

James D. Sweet, Jr.  
SWEET LAW, PC  
P.O. Box 80008  
Billings, MT 59108  
[jds@sweetlawpa.com](mailto:jds@sweetlawpa.com)  
Attorney for Appellant

Amanda D. Hunter  
COPPER CITY LAW, PLLC  
P.O. Box 4552  
Butte, MT 59702  
[amanda@coppercitylaw.com](mailto:amanda@coppercitylaw.com)  
Attorney for Appellee

**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the District Court erred in amending the pleadings after trial to add a request by the Appellee for parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228.
2. Whether the District Court erred in granting Appellee parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Ciara Lynn Rehbein (“Ciara”), brings an appeal to the Montana Supreme Court from the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decree of Dissolution* (the “Decree”) dated December 12, 2024, in which the Honorable Ray J. Dayton of the District Court for the Second District of Montana granted to Appellee, Jessica Michelle Paddock (“Jessica”), parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228 to two of Ciara’s children, A.M.R. and M.J.R.

From the beginning of the dissolution proceeding through the trial, Jessica never requested parental rights to the children under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228, but rather asserted that she was entitled to a presumption of paternity under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105. Ciara addressed the paternity issue in her post-trial brief while emphasizing that this was Jessica’s only possible basis for obtaining parental rights, there being no pleading or motion for alternative relief. Jessica did not dispute this in her response brief, but she placed language in her proposed

findings of fact and conclusions of law referencing Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228 as an alternative basis for relief. This was the first time any such argument had been made. Ciara objected to this in a reply brief as beyond the scope of the issues before the district court, and she went on to summarize various reasons that Jessica had not met the high burden of proof required by the statute anyway. Among these reasons was Jessica’s heavy reliance on “rebuttal” witnesses who all admitted their animosity toward Ciara, and whose testimony created disputed questions *at best* rather than the clear and convincing evidence necessary for granting parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228.

In its Decree, the district court found that Jessica was not entitled to a presumption of paternity under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105, but that she was entitled to parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. The district court amended the pleadings to include this alternative relief on the basis of Mont. R. Civ. P. 15(b)(2), finding that the parties had “consented” to try this issue, but without specifying how they had done so other than by discussing parental rights at all (there is no mention of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228 in the trial transcript). The district court went on to find that Jessica had provided sufficient evidence to support obtaining parental rights to the two children under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. The district court did not address Ciara’s reply arguments, but rather relied on the same hostile witnesses identified in those arguments.

Ciara asserts that the district court committed two serious errors that have deprived her of her fundamental rights. The first error was to grant relief beyond the scope of the issues before the district court and that were sprung on Ciara only after trial and outside the arguments, thereby depriving Ciara of due process of law. The second error was to grant Jessica parental rights as a “nonparent” even though the evidence for such relief was conflicting rather than clear and convincing, thereby depriving Ciara of her rights as the natural mother to her children (not to mention the natural fathers, who have not surrendered their rights).

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **A. The Parties And The Dispute**

Ciara is a resident of Butte, Montana. Transcript of Proceedings - Final Hearing, Part 2 (hereinafter, “Part 2”) at 6:15-20. Jessica is a resident of Butte, Montana. Transcript of Proceedings - Final Hearing, Part 1 (hereinafter, “Part 1”) at 10:14-19; 109:4-6; 114:16-18. She currently resides at 1360 Joy Lane in Butte, though she previously resided with Ciara at 2100 South Wyoming Street in Butte. Part 1 at 109:4-20. The parties were previously married to each other but divorced in or about June of 2017. Part 1 at 114:19 – 115:2. Jessica filed for that divorce and expressed that it was because she did not wish to have children with Ciara. Part 1 at 21:1-7. Part 2 at 13:4-16. The parties remarried each other on or about

July 13, 2018. Part 1 at 14:9-14. Part 2 at 24:13-21. They separated in February of 2021. Part 1 at 17:23 – 18:4. The parties separated in February of 2021. Part 1 at 17:23 – 18:4.

On April 14, 2022, Ciara filed the Petition for Dissolution of Marriage Without Minor Children (the “Petition”). Jessica assisted Ciara in preparing the Petition. Part 1 at 110:17-25. Part 2 at 37:17 – 38:4. On May 17, 2022, Jessica filed her Answer and Counter-Petition. The Counter-Petition asserts that there are two minor children of the marriage: A.M.R. (born in 2018) and M.J.R. (born in 2021). The Counter-Petition does not identify a specific legal basis for Jessica to assert rights as a parent, but it requests a Final Parenting Plan with regard to these two children.

On October 19, 2022, Jessica filed a Petition Regarding Parentage and Brief (the “Parenting Petition”). The Parenting Petition argues that Jessica is entitled to a presumption of paternity to A.M.R. (born in 2018) and M.J.R. (born in 2021) on the basis of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105(1)(a) and (d), especially as interpreted through modern jurisprudence concerning the constitutional right of same-sex partners to marry each other.

Ciara gave birth to both A.M.R. and M.J.R. Part 2 at 9:10-7; 13:22 – 14:4; 24:13-16. Jessica is a biological woman and not capable of being the natural father of A.M.R. or M.J.R. Part 1 at 13:1-2; 36:12-20; 126:9-22. A.M.R. and

M.J.R. currently reside with Ciara and her third child, C.L. Part 2 at 6:21 – 7:2. Jessica visits A.M.R. and M.J.R. each week according to the terms of an Interim Parenting Plan that was issued on July 15, 2022, and modified by the parties’ agreement thereafter. Part 2 at 47:18-21; 72:10 – 73:25.

Neither party requested maintenance from the other, but both parties requested equitable distribution of their marital property.

**B. Facts Regarding A.M.R.**

A.M.R. was born on July 29, 2018. Part 2 at 7:20-21. This was shortly after the parties remarried each other on July 13, 2018. Part 1 at 14:9-14. Part 2 at 24:13-21. A.M.R.’s father is Jesus Soto (“Mr. Soto”). Part 1 at 30:22 – 31:7; 221:18 – 222:12. Part 2 at 7:22-23; 8:17-22. A.M.R. was conceived during a relationship between Ciara and Mr. Soto. Part 1 at 30:20 – 31:6; 219:21 – 220:9. Part 2 at 8:17-25.

Before that relationship occurred, Mr. Soto had made sperm donations for Ciara to attempt artificial insemination, also signing an agreement to surrender his parental rights in case the insemination was successful. Part 1 at 23:3-12; 24:10 – 25:25; 214:20 – 215:17; 216:11 – 217:7. Part 2 at 18:4-21. The agreement identifies Jessica as a witness, not as a party or a parent. Part 1 at 26:1-2. Part 2 at 23:14-24. The attempts at artificial insemination failed. Part 1 at 221:1-8. Part 2 at 11:6-10; 233:5-8. Ciara stopped attempting artificial insemination in March of

2017 because of an injury to her reproductive system. Part 2 at 11:11-24; 232:8 – 233:4.

It was not until September of 2017 that Ciara and Mr. Soto began a physical relationship, which is how A.M.R. was conceived. Part 2 at 12:1-23; 13:12-16; 233:5-11. Ciara and Jessica were divorced during this time. Part 2 at 12:24 – 13:3; 231:7-15. Jessica was no longer living with Ciara during this time, while Mr. Soto had moved in with Ciara. Part 2 at 12:6 – 13:3; 231:7-23. Jessica is the one who filed for the divorce because she said she did not want children. Part 2 at 13:4-16. Jessica confirms telling Ciara that she (Jessica) did not want children and that the two of them were divorced when Ciara conceived A.M.R. Part 1 at 21:5 – 22:5.

Mr. Soto asserts that he relinquished his parental rights to A.M.R. by signing the artificial-insemination agreement presented by Ciara and Paddock. Part 1 at 216:11-17. However, Mr. Soto stays in contact with A.M.R. because both parties informed A.M.R. that he is her father; he considers A.M.R. part of his family; and A.M.R. sees him as “the dad figure” (even calling him on Father’s Day). Part 1 at 26:14-23; 233:12 – 234:17; Part 2 at 25:12-25. Both parties also have accompanied A.M.R. to meet Mr. Soto in person where he lives in Odessa, Washington. Part 1 at 27:2-13.

No evidence was introduced to show that Mr. Soto has taken formal, legal steps to surrender his rights to A.M.R., which the district court confirmed in its Decree. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶ 34.

**C. Facts Regarding M.J.R.**

M.J.R. was born on October 18, 2021. Part 1 at 65:17-18. This was after the parties remarried each other on July 13, 2018. Part 1 at 14:9-14. Part 2 at 24:13-21. M.J.R.'s father is Matthew Allen ("Mr. Allen"), who also obtained a paternity test confirming same. Part 1 at 39:2-8. Part 2 at 8:1-6; 188:23 – 189:5; 196:7 – 197:5. M.J.R. was planned and the product of a sexual relationship between Ciara and Mr. Allen, who never has relinquished his parental rights. Part 1 at 38:12 – 39:8. Part 2 at 9:1-7; 197:6-17.

Jessica accused Mr. Allen of raping Ciara, but both he and Ciara deny this. Part 1 at 156:5 – 157:5; Part 2 at 34:6-13; 195:16-18. Jessica warned Mr. Allen to stay away from her and Ciara. Part 1 at 157:11 – 158:18; Part 2 at 183:14-22. Jessica went so far as to deliver a menacing voicemail to Mr. Allen, who perceived it as a threat and stayed away from Jessica and Ciara. Part 1 at 159:2-5. Part 2 at 191:2 – 195:9; 196:1-6. As a result, Mr. Allen was not present at M.J.R.'s birth or aware of M.J.R.'s existence until six to nine months later. Part 2 at 189:21 – 190:4. During this period, the relationship between Jessica and Ciara was deteriorating (to the point of discussing divorce), and Ciara perceived Jessica

as trying to gain control over M.J.R. by frightening off Mr. Allen. Part 2 at 182:24 – 183:22.

Jessica played an active role in M.J.R.’s birth and life during this period while Mr. Allen was staying away. Part 1 at 40:4 – 42:6. Ever since learning about M.J.R., however, Mr. Allen and his own family have been actively involved in M.J.R.’s life, and Mr. Allen wishes for that to continue by pursuing his rights as a parent. Part 2 at 190:5-11; 199:6 – 200:20; 203:5-12.

#### **D. The Trial**

On December 8, 2023 and on July 11 and 12, 2024, the district court held a trial regarding the parties’ claims against one another. The main point of contention was the two minor children, A.M.R. and M.J.R.

Consistent with her Parenting Petition, Jessica argued that she was entitled to exercise parental rights by virtue of a presumption of paternity under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105(1)(a) and (d), as shown in a discussion between Jessica’s counsel and the district court on the first day of trial:

Q: So, we do have statutes out there that we briefed in an October 19th uh, briefing and um, opposing counsel has recently briefed this last week that talks about presumption of paternity?

A: Correct.

Q: And obviously you don’t have paternity in the classic sense to either of those children?

A: That's correct, there's no way for two females to put in DNA and have a child.

Q: Absolutely. So, we are cognizant of that and recognize that.

A: That's correct.

Q: And we also um, argue before the court um, that most other states have caught up with the times and um, most states recognize that um, these paternity statutes can be applied, can be applied to same sex marriage if those states and courts allow it?

A: Correct.

Part 1 at 13:1-18.

The district court reserved ruling on whether Jessica could assert parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105 and conducted the trial on the temporary assumption that she could. Therefore, in order to help the district court create a parenting plan that would serve the best interests of the children if Jessica were treated as a parent, the parties introduced evidence regarding their relationships with the children.

Jessica did not assert rights as a “nonparent” under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228, which was not before the district court and is never mentioned in the trial transcript.

#### **E. The Post-Trial Filings**

On October 9, 2024, Ciara filed a post-trial brief in which she explained that Jessica is not entitled to a presumption of paternity under Mont. Code Ann. §

40-6-105(1). Ciara also emphasized that there was no basis for the district court to grant Jessica parental rights as a “nonparent” under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228, for the following reasons:

Jessica’s Counter-Petition and Parenting Petition assert rights *as a parent* based on Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105. Jessica has not filed any pleading or motion asserting rights *as a nonparent* based on Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. This means that there is no basis for the Court to grant any such rights. *See Saylor v. Yan Sun*, 2023 MT 175, ¶¶ 49, 53, 413 Mont. 303, 536 P.3d 399 (reversing grant of rights as a nonparent in part because “Surrogate did not properly ‘plead’ a § 40-4-228 nonparent parental rights claim as required by M. R. Civ. P. 7(a)(1)-(2), 8(a)(1), 12(a)(1), 13(a)(1), and 15(a)(1)-(2)). In *Saylor*, the court went the extra mile to reject the claim of nonparent rights on its merits because the party had filed a motion on that basis, but no such motion has been filed here, which makes consideration of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228 even less appropriate. . . . Jessica’s pleadings and arguments all hinge on Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105, and they must rise or fall on that basis alone.

Ciara Post-Trial Brief at ¶¶ 29, 30.

On October 22, 2024, Jessica filed a two-page response to Ciara’s post-trial brief. Jessica Response Brief. In the response, Jessica states merely that the Court is aware of her stance regarding her right to a presumption of paternity and that the Court should grant her parental rights on that basis. **Jessica’s response does not dispute Ciara’s point that Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228 was not before the district court and could not support a grant of parental rights.** However, Jessica provided the Court with an ex-parte submission of her proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (“FFCL”), instead of submitting via the e-filing

portal, a copy of which was only provided after Ciara's undersigned counsel requested the status of Jessica's submission following the expiration of the deadline for submission of same. Jessica's FFCL included alternative grounds to grant her rights as a nonparent under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. Jessica FFCL, Conclusions of Law at ¶¶ 24-31. This was the first time Jessica ever had raised this issue, which she did outside any pleadings or motions but rather smuggled into her proposed findings for the district court to adopt.

On October 27, 2024, Ciara filed a reply brief explaining that Jessica had not refuted Ciara's points regarding either the paternity statute or the inapplicability of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. Ciara Reply Brief. Ciara also discussed Jessica's FFCL and objected to its inclusion of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228 as an alternative basis for relief, emphasizing again that it was beyond the scope of the issues before the district court. In an abundance of caution, Ciara went on to explain that Jessica had not met the high burden of proof for obtaining parental rights under that statute anyway, given the conflicting testimony and Jessica's reliance on "rebuttal" witnesses who testified near the end of the trial. Those witnesses were Dixie Holland, Chad Lacey, Jonathan Shepherd, and Janice Basso, all of whom admitted their animosity toward Ciara and made lurid accusations against her of alcoholism and abusiveness. This testimony was blatantly biased and contradicted ample testimony from other witnesses during

the trial. Moreover, Ciara pointed to testimony regarding Jessica’s own serious problems with substance abuse, which included sharing marijuana with Ciara’s children, driving under the influence of marijuana or alcohol, and causing a car crash.

**F. The Decree**

On December 12, 2024, the district court issued its Decree. Among other things, the Decree finds the Jessica is not entitled to a presumption of paternity under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105. Decree, Conclusions of Law ¶ 3.

Immediately after that, however, the Decree finds that Jessica is entitled to parental rights over A.M.R. and M.J.R. by virtue of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. Decree, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 4-27.

Regarding Jessica’s failure to plead rights as a “nonparent” under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228, the Decree cites Mont. R. Civ. P. 15(b)(2) and finds that the statute was tried by the parties’ express or implied consent, namely because “[t]he case was tried in such a way that it was clear that Jessica was asserting her rights to a parenting plan and her rights to a parental interest in the child [sic].” Decree, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 18-20.

Regarding the substance of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228, the Decree finds that Jessica proved its criteria by showing that Ciara engaged in conduct contrary to the child-parent relationship; that Jessica established a child-parent relationship

with A.M.R. and M.J.R.; and that it is in the children’s best interests to continue that relationship. Decree, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 4-9, 21-27. For all of these statutory factors, the Decree relies heavily on the testimony of Jessica and the hostile “rebuttal” witnesses Dixie Holland, Chad Lacey, Jonathan Shepherd, and Janice Basso. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶¶ 14, 32, 35-40, 42-45, 47, 48, 53-55, 58-62, 64, 65, 68-71, 73-77, 85-89, 92, 103-105, 110-117, 120, 121, 124. This testimony portrays Jessica in a positive light while characterizing Ciara as neglectful, alcoholic, and abusive. The Decree also cites two of the hostile witnesses – Janice Basso and Jonathan Shepherd – to conclude that Ciara was coaching A.M.R. to alienate her from Jessica. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶ 128. The Decree treats this testimony as informing the testimony of Fredericka Grunhuvd (a social worker) that A.M.R. is confused about Jessica’s role in her life and is afraid that Jessica will take her away. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶¶ 125-130. Yet Ms. Grunhuvd expressed no view on alienation and stated that A.M.R. “doesn’t identify Jessica as a parent” but rather as “someone special that she goes and visits.” Part 2 at 304:9-11. Indeed, Ms. Grunhuvd and another witness explained that Jessica acted as a “grandfather” figure rather than a parent, even to the point of being called (by herself and by the children) a Spanish nickname meaning grandfather. Part 2 at 242:1-18; 303:7-16. Ms. Grunhuvd also specifically said

that A.M.R. was afraid that Jessica would take her away *from her mom*, meaning Ciara, which the Decree also omits. Part 2 at 304:5-7.

The Decree discusses little of the evidence offered by Ciara at trial, and none of the arguments or testimony offered by Ciara in her reply brief concerning Jessica's failure to satisfy Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-228. The Decree also does not identify or discuss the statutory criteria for the best interests of the children as set forth in Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-212. Instead, the Decree finds that Jessica's position is "more persuasive." Decree, Findings of Fact ¶ 133.

Regarding the natural father of A.M.R. (Mr. Soto), the Decree describes how he agreed to help Ciara and Jessica become parents by making sperm donations for Ciara to conceive by artificial insemination. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶¶ 16-21. The Decree describes Jessica as highly involved in these efforts and asserts that Ciara was still attempting artificial insemination when she conceived A.M.R. during a physical relationship with Mr. Soto. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶¶ 21, 22. This ignores the testimony of Ciara and her mother (Sherry Tinseth), who stated that Ciara had ceased attempting artificial insemination in March of 2017 because of an injury, and that A.M.R. was conceived months later. Part 2 at 11:11 – 12:23; 232:8 – 233:4. The Decree also ignores that Ciara and Jessica were divorced during this time, when Jessica was no longer living with Ciara and Mr. Soto had moved in with Ciara. Part 2 at 12:6 – 13:3; 231:7-23. In

other words, the Decree incorrectly portrays A.M.R. as the product of a joint plan between Ciara and Jessica. The Decree finds that Mr. Soto stays in contact with A.M.R.; that he regards A.M.R. as part of his family; that A.M.R. sees him as a father figure; and that A.M.R. has traveled to meet Mr. Soto in person. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶ 28. Contrary to this, the Decree goes on to refer to Mr. Soto as a “father” (in quotes and in name only) who has never acted as a parent or held himself out as a parent. Decree, Conclusions of Law ¶ 11. The Decree acknowledges, however, that Mr. Soto has not taken formal, legal steps to surrender his rights to A.M.R. Decree, Findings of Fact ¶ 34.

Furthermore, the district court’s discussion of the birth certificate is entirely irrelevant. See Decree, Findings of Fact ¶¶ 36, 44-47.

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