IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
No. DA 25-0031

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

CIARA LYNN REHBEIN,

Petitioner and Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

JESSICA MICHELLE PADDOCK,

Respondent and Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

**APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT'S COMBINED ANSWER BRIEF AND
CROSS-APPEAL BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana Second Judicial District Court,
Silver Bow County,
The Honorable Ray J. Dayton, Presiding.

APPEARANCES:

AMANDA D. HUNTER
Copper City Law, PLLC
444 East Park St
P.O. Box 4552
Butte, MT 59702
Phone: (406) -920-9998
amanda@coppercitylaw.com
Attorney for Appellee/Cross-Appellant

JAMES D. SWEET, JR.
Sweet Law, PC
P.O. Box 80008
Billings, MT 59108
jds@sweetlawpa.com

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

sex couples as well. (*See Obergefell v. Hodges*, 576 U.S. 644 (2015).) Marriage is an important institution, and social, religious, and legal construct in this nation, and Jessica has the right to have her marriage respected and to receive any marital rights of said union just the same as any other married couple.

There is Montana Supreme Court case law from 2009 where the ACLU successfully argued that the non-biological mother in a lesbian dissolution of marriage case had a right to parent her children. (*See Kulstad v. Maniaci*, 220 P.3d 595 (Mont. 2009).) This mother had taken these children into her home to raise with her spouse (the biological mother) for more than 10 years. (*See Id.*) Similarly, not only were Jessica and Ciara married when both of their children were married, but Jessica very much did take A.M.R. and M.J.R. into her home and raised them as her own since their births (further, the parties had been a couple for nearly 10 years and married for 4 of those years). Jessica acted as a parent to these two young children, including being active while they were in utero, picking their names, during birth, and following birth doing tummy time, baths, feeding, night-time feedings and fussiness, play, and helping teach the children to walk, talk, use the potty, etc. Ciara may have taken on more a traditional maternal caregiving role--- and Ciara was largely able to do that and be a stay-at-home mother because Jessica worked and financially supported the family, even if it meant night shift work. However, Jessica's decision to be the financial provider for the family does

not make her any less of an involved, emotionally invested, and caring parent. Jessica also made sure the children were enrolled on her health insurance policy, she was listed as a parent with the children's healthcare providers, and listed the children as dependents on her income taxes for several years. Not did Jessica receive the children into her home, financial support, and care for the children who were born during her marriage to Ciara just like a parent, but Jessica also represented to the public that these are her children. (*Id.* at 46, 195-197, 200-201, 205-207.). Jessica's family and friends all believe and understand that A.M.R. and M.J.R. are Jessica's children. Even Ciara made admonishments on her social media indicating that Jessica was a parent of these children. (12/8/23 Hr'g Tr. at 51-52.) The parties even divided Mother's Day and Father's Day between the two of them prior to their separation. Jessica satisfies both the criteria of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105(a) and § 40-6-105(d).

In this case, the State of Montana, through the DPHHS and the Vital Statistics Departments, correctly *presumed* Jessica Michelle Paddock as a parent to A.M.R. and M.J.R. when reviewing birth certificate and Montana Healthy Kids/Montana Medicaid matters. (12/8/23 Hr'g Tr. at 43-45, 73-74, 127-128; 7/11/24 Hr'g Tr. at 43-45, 65-66.) The State of Montana, through Vital Statistics, sent multiple letters to the parties asking them to correct M.J.R.'s birth certificate to include Jessica since the parties were married, and even refused to add Matthew

Allen because of the existence of Jessica and Ciara's marriage. (*Id.*; Ct. Ex T.)

Further, because Jessica and Ciara continued to remain married to each other during the pendency of this matter, the Montana DPHHS correctly applied said presumption statute when Ciara gave birth to yet another child during the party's marriage. (12/8/23 Hr'g Tr. at 73-74; 7/11/24 Hr'g Tr. at 65-66; Ct. Ex Q.)

Because of the situation of that third child in relation to this contested case, Jessica and the natural father appropriately completed the necessary rebuttal and paternity documentation to correct who that child's second parent truly was, but the point is, the Montana DPHHS did properly and automatically apply the presumptive of parentage statutes as it should of from the beginning. (*Id.*; Ct. Ex Q.) It very much appears that Montana's departments and institutions already understand and apply how the presumptive parentage statute of Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105(1)(a), even in the case of same-sex couples and despite outdated gendered language within the statute. Ciara is essentially trying to undo this law, Montana's application of the law, and have Montana declare it will not treat all married couples the same.

The phrase "presumption of paternity" which is the technical language of the Montana Code Ann. §40-6-105, versus a more gender neutral and appropriate term such as "presumption of parentage" does not defeat the intent of the presumption statute as applying to all married couples giving birth to children during the course of their marriage. Since the recognition of marriage equality, parental presumption

laws should and must apply equally to all married couples in Montana, including same-sex couples. (*See Pavan v. Smith*, 582 U.S. 1 (2017); *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 576 U.S. 644 (2015).) Whether or not a statute name/title has been updated to reflect the correct gendered language should be irrelevant. According to the Montana Human Rights Network, there is a general consensus that Montana's presumptive parentage statutes *should* apply to same-sex couples just the same as they apply to opposite-sex couples. (*See* APPENDIX B, Kim Abbott & Denise Brogan-Kator, *Montana LGBTQ Family Law: A Resource Guide for LGBTQ-Headed Families Living in Montana*, 8-9 (Montana Human Rights Network and Family Equality Counsel, December 2017).)

Ciara makes the argument to this Court that her parental rights prevail over a non-parent's rights and that her fundamental constitutional rights as a parent have been impeded on in this matter. Ciara fails to acknowledge that *Troxel v. Granville* is a grandparent's rights case, and wholly different legally and factually from a parental right, presumptive parent, or even a third-party parenting case such as this case. (*See Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57 (2000).) In fact, almost all of the caselaw Ciara relies on in her appellant's brief is at least 30 years old or older, and certainly well before *Obergefell v. Hodges* and subsequent rulings regarding same sex married couples. In regards to *Sayler v. Yan Sun*, again the facts concern a child who was not born during the parties' marriage, and the Court simply found

that the District Court first needed to make finding under Montana Code Ann. § 40-4-228 before a parenting plan could be Ordered. (*Saylor v. Yan Sun*, 2023 MT 175, 413 Mont. 303.) In this case, Jessica is not a “non-parent”. Jessica is very much a parent to these children just as Ciara is. To treat Jessica as a non-parent would be in fact to impinge on *Jessica’s* fundamental constitutional rights as a parent. Further, Ciara, as the children’s other parent, made it abundantly clear to the District Court that her actions are routinely contrary to a child-parent relationship, and thus, Ciara’s wishes should not prevail over Jessica’s rights as the other parent.

Further, the *children* born of a married same-sex couple are also entitled to same rights of other children born to married opposite-sex couples, including the right to be considered legitimate children. By extension, it makes no logical sense to recognize children born of married couple as legitimate, including children born from a married same-sex couple, but then deny one of the parents the rights of being a presumed parent under the law to said legitimate children. If the child is truly legitimate that necessarily means the child has two presumed parents who are married.

Finally, Ciara did not make a sufficient showing by a preponderance of evidence under Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105, that Jessica’s presumption of parentage was rebutted. Jessica received both A.M.R. and M.J.R. into her home as

babies and continues to do so. (Doc. 118, at 25.) Jessica has openly represented to the community, doctors, teachers, counselors, financial institutions, governing entities, taxing authorities, employers, etc. that A.M.R. and M.J.R. are her children, she is their parent, and she has been their parent since their births. *Id.* Finally, Jessica has acknowledged to the public that she is the parent of A.M.R. and M.J.R. and witnesses corroborated this finding at trial. (*Id.*) Again, these actions are all above and beyond the important fact that Jessica and Ciara were legally married when these children were born. Ciara tries to rely on the fact that Jessica took herself off of A.M.R.'s birth certificate at one point as evidence that her presumption of parentage is rebutted by that action. The District Court heard these arguments and reviewed said evidence related to A.M.R.'s birth certificate, including Jessica's testimony about the parties discussions regarding the legality of Jessica being listed as a "father" on the birth certificate, the parties misunderstanding that the non-natural parent from a same-sex couple must complete an adoption, and the fact that Jessica continued to care for and support A.M.R. like a parent for *years* following the edit to the birth certificate. (12/8/23 Hr'g Tr. at 35-38, 126-127, 7/11/24 Hr'g Tr. at 31-32.) Ultimately, on the birth certificate rebuttal issue the District Court factually found Jessica to be credible, and in doing so did not abuse its discretion.

The necessary existence of biological/natural fathers who were necessary in

the literal creation of A.M.R. and M.J.R. does not defeat Jessica’s parental rights or show that she should be excluded from a presumption of parentage. A.M.R.’s “natural father”, Mr. Soto, has never acted as parent to A.M.R., has never received A.M.R. into his home, has never financially supported A.M.R., and has never held himself out as a parent of A.M.R. (Doc. 118 at 25; 12/8/23 Hr’g Tr. at 223.) Mr. Soto made clear in a contract between the parties that he was not to be a parent to A.M.R. and that Jessica was to be the parent of any child resulting from his sperm. (12/8/23 Hr’g Tr. at 214-218, 220-222.) It is irrelevant whether the actual conception of A.M.R. was the result of artificial insemination or natural conception, neither of which can ever be definitively proved.

The introduction and involvement of “natural father”, Matthew Allen, to M.J.R.’s life since the opening of this legal matter also does not rebut Jessica’s presumption of parentage to M.J.R. While Matthew Allen’s interest in M.J.R. since finding out of M.J.R.’s existence appears genuine, it does not change the fact that Jessica has stood in the role of a parent to M.J.R. since his birth and that M.J.R. was born during the course of Ciara and Jessica’s marriage.

Based on Mont. Code Ann. § 40-6-105 and § 40-6-201, Jessica should legally be a presumed parent to A.M.R. and M.J.R. and have full parental rights to A.M.R. and M.J.R.

//

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONSIDERING THIRD-PARTY PARENTING RIGHTS.

Appellant (Ciara) incorrectly states to this Court that the District Court improperly “amended its pleadings after trial” to include an evaluation of Third-Party Parenting Statutes. First, Jessica’s Counter-Petition was filed on May 17, 2022, where she simply counters that the original Dissolution Petition did not properly include the children and parenting, and where in fact “the parties have two minor children of their marriage” and, thus asked for a parenting plan in the matter. (Doc. 4.) Ciara Answered the Counter-Petition on June 6, 2022, where Ciara indicated she contested not only parenting, but Jessica’s parental rights. (Doc. 9.) Also on June 6, 2022, Jessica filed a Motion for a Temporary Parenting Plan Order as it was clear the case was contested, particularly regarding parentage. (Doc. 6.) On July 14, 2022, a hearing was held on the interim parenting matter and the initial concepts of parenting, third-party parenting, and step-parenting were discussed for preliminary purposes in establishing an interim visitation plan. (7/14/22 Hrg. Tr. at 45, lines 21-25.)

Upon understanding that Ciara planned on contesting Jessica’s parental rights, and not just terms of a parenting plan, Jessica filed a “Petition For Judgment Regarding Parentage And Brief” on October 19, 2022. (Doc. 26.) This Brief included Presumptive Parentage analysis. (Doc. 26.) When that Petition was not immediately granted by the District Court, the extent of, or what form of parental

rights Jessica had become the crux of the discussion during this case and was brought up at numerous interim hearings and mediation. (7/14/22 Hrg. Tr. at 45, lines 21-25.) The extent and type of parental interests Jessica had, if any, were the open-ended questions of the entire case. (*Id.*)

Ciara submitted a “Trial Brief” to opposing counsel and the District Court *before* the first final hearing on parentage on December 4, 2023. (*See* APPENDIX A attached hereto.) It appears from the Register of Actions (ROA) in the matter that Ciara’s counsel did not actually properly file the Trial Brief as it does not appear in the ROA. This was Ciara’s third attorney at the time, and he was new to the matter, and he likely misfiled the Trial Brief due to the confusing nature of having several judge substitutions and recusals throughout the matter. Regardless, the Trial Brief *was* provided to Judge Dayton and opposing counsel as the certificate service states, and the Trial Brief specially speaks to the District Court and makes arguments to the District Court. (APPENDIX A.)

In this unfiled Trial Brief, Ciara’s counsel specifically briefs *both* presumptive parentage and third-party parental interest laws and makes analysis and arguments about both sets of law to the District Court. (APPENDIX A.) Again, this brief was *submitted prior to the contested trial date* on December 4, 2023 (trial date being December 8, 2023), and Ciara’s counsel clearly understood both sets of statutes would be discussed at trial. To argue to this Court that Ciara

and her counsel were not aware the District Court would be conducting both a presumptive parentage and third-party parenting statute analysis in insincere, inaccurate, and frankly appalling. Ciara's December 4, 2023, Trial Brief is further evidence that she consented to the amended pleadings in this matter and was prepared to proceed to trial.

Further, throughout the entire duration of the trial, both on the record and off the record, the parentage causes at issue were discussed openly, including statutory criteria and evidence for both presumptive parenting and third-party parenting. (7/14/22 Hrg. Tr. at 45, lines 21-25.; Doc 26; Doc 31; APPENDIX A.) Much of the questioning and evidence were very clearly geared toward establishing at least a third-party parenting interest for Jessica in the case. (*See* Ct. Ex. R; 12/8/23, including 85-87, 103-104, 180; and 7/11/24- 7/12/24 Ct. Hr'g Transcripts, including 102, 221-222.)

The contested trial on parentage matters consisted of three days. The first day being held on December 8, 2023, and then the second and third days being held on July 11 and 12, 2024--- over 7 months later. At the December 8, 2023, trial date, it was again made abundantly clear that the Court would be hearing argument, testimony, and presented evidence on both the presumptive parentage and third-party parenting statutes. (*See* Ct. Ex. R; 12/8/23, 85-87, 103-104, 180.) No objection was made by Ciara on December 8, 2023. Then Ciara proceeded to

have an additional seven (7) months, at her counsel's request, to further prepare for the remainder of the contested hearing which the District Court granted. At no point during the seven (7) months did Ciara object to third-party parenting considerations or allege errors or omissions in either party's pleadings.

On the remaining final trial dates of July 11 and 12, 2024, again argument, testimony, and evidence were presented by both sides regarding both presumptive parenting and third-party parenting. (7/11/24- 7/12/24 Ct. Hr'g Transcripts, including 102, 221-222.) No objection was made by Ciara or her counsel. It was not until 3 months after the conclusion of the final day of trial that Ciara made an objection to the Court for considering third-party parenting statutes in a Post-Trial Brief. (Doc. 115.) The District Court properly denied that objection in its final findings on the matter. (Doc. 118.)

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